# FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 1/16/2019 3:53 PM

Supreme Court No.: 96748-2
Court of Appeals No.: 49881-2-II

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## IN RE THE DETENTION OF JOEL REIMER,

Petitioner.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

### ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR COWLITZ COUNTY

MARLA L. ZINK The Law Office of Marla Zink, PLLC 1037 NE 65<sup>th</sup> Street #80840 Seattle, WA 98115 (360) 726-3130

Gregory C. Link WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 587-2711

Attorneys for Petitioner

####

#### B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. This Court has held waiver of the constitutional right to testify can be presumed from silence if the accused is present. Should the Court accept review where the Court of Appeals presumed waiver from silence of an absent accused? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).
- 2. Should the Court accept review where the opinion from Division Two conflicts with an opinion from Division One regarding the admission of diagnoses from nontestifying witnesses? RAP 13.4(b)(2).

3. Should the Court accept review to determine whether RCW 71.09.020 violates due process by allowing for the involuntary commitment of a person who is merely "likely" to reoffend where due process requires proof that a person is mentally ill and dangerous by at least clear and convincing evidence? RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4).

#### C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Joel Reimer has been totally confined at the Special Commitment Center (SCC) on McNeil Island since its inception over 25 years ago. RP 509, 701-05. In 2014, the State could not sustain its prima facie burden, and he earned a full evidentiary hearing to determine whether he still met the criteria for commitment. CP 617.

The superintendent of the SCC from 2004 to 2009, licensed psychologist Henry Richards, testified in support of Mr. Reimer's release. RP 920, 933-34. Dr. Richards has known Mr. Reimer since 2004 and testified to his positive change over time. RP 969-72, 976-85, 1012-36, 1129-34, 1169. Evaluating Mr. Reimer specifically for this case, Dr. Richards diagnosed Mr. Reimer with narcissistic personality disorder and cyclothymic disorder, which is an affective disorder that is milder than bipolar disorder. RP 1095-96, 1169. Dr. Richards concluded Mr. Reimer did not satisfy the criteria for commitment—he does not suffer from a mental abnormality or personality disorder that makes him likely to

commit sexually predatory acts unless confined. RP 1095-96, 1114-15, 1192. Mr. Reimer's case was the only time Dr. Richards had testified for the defense since leaving his work at the SCC. RP 958-59. On other hand, Dr. Richards had testified for the State in dozens of cases. *Id*.

The State presented only two witnesses: licensed psychologist
Harry Hoberman and Joel Reimer. RP 464-66, 773, 919. Dr. Hoberman
opined that Mr. Reimer is characterized by sexual sadism, antisocial
personality disorder and high psychopathy, and alcohol use disorder. RP
556-59. He testified that these diagnoses rendered Mr. Reimer likely to
reoffend unless totally confined. RP 654. Dr. Hoberman conceded Mr.
Reimer had engaged in no sexually-related incidents for the last 25 years.
RP 707-08.

Mr. Reimer moved pretrial to preclude the State from eliciting testimony about diagnoses made by nontestifying experts and which were not current. CP 983-85 (motions in limine 3 and 4). There is no basis for admission under the evidence rules and the testimony would impermissibly vouch for the State's expert diagnosis, by indicating to the jury that Dr. Hoberman's opinion is reliable because it is supported by a long line of evaluations. *Id.*; RP 127-31. The trial court agreed that the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The State also presented deposition testimony from two witnesses, the complaining witnesses from prior criminal trials. RP 748-56, 764-71.

evidence was inadmissible, ruling that while the experts could base their opinions on facts set out for them by nontestifying witnesses, the experts could not testify to opinions of nontestifying witnesses. RP 131.

Despite the pretrial ruling, the prosecutor questioned Dr. Richards about prior evaluations by nontestifying witnesses that purported to support Dr. Hoberman. RP 1176-79, 1186-90. Mr. Reimer moved for a mistrial, but the trial court denied the motion. RP 1185-90; CP 1270-77 (renewing motion post-trial). The court instructed the jury not to consider evaluations by nontestifying experts. RP 1190-91.

Mr. Reimer waived his right to be present at trial, but agreed to be called during the State's case. CP 1227-31; RP 41-49, 55-59. In the written waiver form, he explicitly did not waive his right to testify during his own case-in-chief:

#### **Right To Testify**

I understand that I have a constitutional right to testify. I understand that if I choose to testify, the Petitioner has a right to cross-examination [sic] me.

I hereby waive my right to testify and be present to testify. Initial: \_\_\_\_\_. [line left blank]

CP 1229 (footnote omitted). Mr. Reimer explicitly preserved his right to testify in his own case. *Id*. This preservation was separate and apart from his willingness to testify during the State's case. *Compare* CP 1228-29

(waiving right to be present during state's case-in-chief with exception if called by state to testify) *with* CP 1229 (preserving right to testify in respondent's own case-in-chief). The trial court also stated Mr. Reimer could revisit his waivers at any point during trial by notifying his attorney. RP 78-79.

Mr. Reimer waived his right to be present for portions of the trial because he wanted to stay at the SCC rather than be held in jail. He could more reliably receive his medication at the SCC, and he had back and neck pain that made sleeping at the SCC more comfortable for him. CP 1227-31; RP 41-49, 55-59; *see* CP 1144-55. However, Mr. Reimer was not returned to the SCC; rather, he remained in jail during the trial. RP 904, 1050, 1395-1401, 1405-06.

Mr. Reimer was present when called by the State to testify. RP 773. He was otherwise absented from trial. *E.g.*, RP 904, 1050, 1395-1401, 1405-06. During presentation of his case on October 19, Mr. Reimer sent a message from jail through the court that he wanted to talk his attorneys. RP 1050. But his attorneys apparently did not contact him, and they rested his case.

In addition to the testimony of former superintendent Dr. Richards,
Mr. Reimer proved he had rented an apartment in Tacoma, Washington
and had interviewed with a service provider who would help him find

employment if released. RP 1201-07, 1216-17, 1220-21. Mr. Reimer also presented testimony about his change in temperament and positive work ethic from the custodial maintenance supervisor, who supervises Mr. Reimer's employment, and the swing-shift supervisor. RP 1235-40, 1241-47.

The jury returned deadlocked, and the presiding juror reported the discourse had been deep and rich but votes had not changed since the prior afternoon. RP 1390-92. The court called the jury into the courtroom and proposed trying further deliberations. RP 1393-94. After lunch, the jury returned a verdict, committing Mr. Reimer indefinitely to the SCC. RP 1396; CP 1268.

#### D. ARGUMENT

- 1. The Court should grant review of the novel question whether knowing, intelligent, and voluntary waiver of the right to testify can be presumed from a respondent's absence from trial where he had previously explicitly declined to waive his right to testify.
  - a. This Court has delineated very limited circumstances where waiver of the right to testify will be presumed from the defendant's conduct.

The right to testify is "so crucial to the accused's fate" that only he can decide whether to waive it. *State v. Humphries*, 181 Wn.2d 708, 725, 336 P.3d 1121 (2014) (internal quotation marks omitted); U.S. Const.

amends. V, VI, XIV. The right is also explicitly protected under our state constitution. Const. art. I, § 22; *State v. Robinson*, 138 Wn.2d 753, 758, 982 P.2d 590 (1999).

The fundamental right to testify can only be waived if the waiver is made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily. *State v. Thomas*, 128 Wn.2d 553, 558-59, 910 P.2d 475 (1996). The decision whether to testify ultimately lies with the client. *Robinson*, 138 Wn.2d at 763. An accused's constitutionally protected right to testify is violated if the final decision not to testify is made against his will. *Id*.

Our courts indulge every reasonable presumption <u>against</u> waiver of the right to testify. *E.g. State v. Frawley*, 181 Wn.2d 452, 461, 334 P.3d 1022 (2014); *City of Bellevue v. Acrey*, 103 Wn.2d 203, 207, 691 P.2d 957 (1984). And, the prosecution bears the burden of establishing a valid waiver. *Frawley*, 181 Wn.2d at 461; *see Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238, 242, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1969).

If the respondent is present, this Court has held the waiver of his right to testify can be presumed. *Robinson*, 138 Wn.2d at 759, 763.

However, this Court has never held waiver can be presumed from an absent defendant's silence. Indeed, *Robinson* suggests it cannot. *Id*.

b. The opinion below deviates from this Court's careful delineation by holding, without citation, waiver can be presumed from the accused's absence.

Mr. Reimer was not in the courtroom during his case-in-chief. And he had explicitly excluded waiver of his right to testify from the rights he waived prior to trial. CP 1229. Despite Mr. Reimer's *explicit* exclusion of this waiver and despite his absence, the Court of Appeals held Mr. Reimer *implicitly* waived his right to testify by waiving his right to be present. Slip Op. at 8. This holding contradicts *Robinson*, 138 Wn.2d at 759. Yet, the Court of Appeals so held without any citation:

Here, Reimer affirmatively waived his right to be present at his trial. Reimer did not expressly waive his right to testify; however, he waived his right to be present which implicitly waived his right to testify because a person must be present in court to testify in court. At any point, he could have affirmatively asserted that he wanted to exercise his right to testify. He could have communicated his desire to testify to either the trial court or his attorneys. The trial court also expressly informed Reimer that he should inform the trial court or his attorneys if he changed his mind about being present in court. Reimer failed to do so.

*Id.* This Court should grant review of this novel constitutional holding. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), (4).

2. The Court should accept review because Division Two's opinion conflicts with an opinion from Division One regarding admissibility of opinions from nontestifying witnesses.

The Court should also grant review because the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with Division One's holding in *State v. Hamilton*, 196 Wn. App. 461, 383 P.3d 1062 (2016), *review denied* 187 Wn.2d 1026 (2017). RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The rules of evidence preclude admission of diagnoses from nontestifying witnesses. ER 401, 402, 703, 705, 801(c).

In *Hamilton*, Division One held, "Cross-examination that attempts to impeach by slipping in unrelied on opinions and conclusions without calling the experts to testify is improper." 196 Wn. App. at 464 (quoting Robert H. Aronson & Maureen Howard, The Law of Evidence in Washington § 8.03[8][b], at 8-67 (5th ed. 2016)). Because the expert did not rely on the opinion, ER 703 does not justify the admission of such testimony. *Id.* at 464. It is also not admissible as facts and data subject to ER 705. *Id.* To the extent it is impeachment evidence in an effort to show the testifying witness should have relied on the opinion, it is elicited for its truth and therefore inadmissible hearsay under ER 801(c). *Id.* 

In *Hamilton*, the accused relied on a diminished capacity defense at his trial for second degree assault while confined at the Monroe

Correctional Complex. 196 Wn. App. at 465. He presented a single expert witness, psychiatrist Dr. Stuart Grassian, to testify to Hamilton's mental illnesses at the time of the assault and the effect of incarceration on his mental health. *Id.* at 465-67. Over Hamilton's objections, the prosecutor attempted to impeach Hamilton's expert with the opinions of nontestifying experts that—generally speaking—Hamilton did not suffer from mental illness, which were contained in Hamilton's voluminous medical records. *Id.* at 466, 468-73. Grassian did not rely on the opinions elicited, the records were not admitted into evidence, and none of the authors of the opinions testified. *Id.* at 474.

Division One reversed the ensuing conviction, finding Hamilton's right to a fair trial had been violated by the evidentiary violations. 196 Wn. App. at 474-85. The evidence was inadmissible hearsay if the State relied on the opinions for the truth of the matter asserted. *Id.* at 474-75. If the State did not rely on the opinions for their truth, the entries were irrelevant as Hamilton's expert had not relied upon them in formulating his opinion. *Id.* at 475, 483-84. The evidence was also not admissible under ER 703 or 705 because it was not facts or data and was not relied upon by the testifying expert. *Id.* at 477-81.

The inadmissible evidence concerned the central issue in Hamilton's case: his mental state at the time of the assault. 196 Wn. App.

at 485. The prosecutor's elicitation of opinions of nontestifying experts undermined Hamilton's sole expert and, consequently, his ability to assert his diminished capacity defense. *Id.* Accordingly, Division One held the trial was unfair. *Id.* 

As in *Hamilton*, here the State questioned an expert witness about the opinions of nontestifying witnesses. RP 1179-91. The cross-examination caused the admission of years of diagnoses from nontestifying witnesses, which vouched for the State's expert's conclusion.

Beyond *Hamilton*, two additional bases compound the error and compel reversal. First, the elicitation of the inadmissible evidence was misconduct because it violated the court's pretrial ruling. *State v. Fleming*, 83 Wn. App. 209, 214, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996) (prosecutor commits misconduct that is flagrant and ill-intentioned if it violates the rules established to govern the parties' conduct at trial); RP 131 (pretrial ruling). Despite the pretrial prohibition on the opinions of nontestifying expert's, the State deliberately questioned Dr. Richards, as it had done at his deposition, about the diagnoses of prior evaluators. RP 1179-80, 1186-87. The trial court disapproved of the State's conduct on this basis:

THE COURT: Well, Counsel, let me ask, in light of the prior ruling -- and you've got this in a deposition, you know you're going to use it, why on earth did it not come up outside the presence of the jury?

MR. TALEBI: What?

THE COURT: The fact that you're going to run dead into that prior ruling on the motions in limine.

RP 1188.

Second, the violation of the pretrial ruling was flagrant and illintentioned misconduct that vouched for the State's expert, as Dr.

Hoberman diagnosed Mr. Reimer with sexual sadism, antisocial
personality disorder and high psychopathy—the same opinions the State
"offered" on cross-examination through the nontestifying experts. Beyond
the admission of inadmissible evidence on a central issue, here the
evidence of years of opinions of nontestifying experts vouched for the
State's own expert's testimony. Thus, the prejudice here extends beyond
that at stake in *Hamilton*.

The admission of this testimony jeopardized Mr. Reimer's right to a fair trial and requires reversal under *Hamilton*, 196 Wn. App. at 485. This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict among divisions of the Court of Appeals.

3. The Court should grant review to reexamine *Brooks* and the constitutionally insufficient statutory standard that allows indefinite civil commitment upon a mere preponderance of the evidence.

Our legislature mandated, a person may not be committed indefinitely unless the State proves beyond a reasonable doubt he is a

sexually violent predator. RCW 71.09.060. This standard exceeds the constitutionally-required standard of proof in civil commitment proceedings, which requires proof of present dangerousness by clear and convincing evidence. *Addington v. Texas*, 441 U.S. 418, 427, 433, 99 S. Ct. 1804, 60 L. Ed. 2d 323 (1979).

However, a lesser standard—lower than clear and convincing evidence and lower than beyond a reasonable doubt—has been used in court proceedings and forms the basis of Mr. Reimer's commitment.

A "sexually violent predator" is a person "who has been convicted of or charged with a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental abnormality or personality disorder which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18). "Likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility' means that the person more probably than not will engage in such acts if released unconditionally from detention." RCW 71.09.020(7) (emphasis added). This is the preponderance of the evidence standard.

This standard conflicts with the constitutionally-required clear and convincing evidence standard from *Addington*, 441 U.S. at 427. And it fails to satisfy our statute's beyond a reasonable doubt requirement. RCW 71.09.060.

"Clear and convincing evidence" means the fact in issue must be shown to be "highly probable." *In re Sego*, 82 Wn.2d 736, 739, 513 P.2d 831 (1973). Thus, civil commitment is unconstitutional absent a finding that it is "highly probable" the person will reoffend. The "more probable than not" standard of RCW Ch. 71.09 violates due process.

Though this Court rejected the argument in *In re Det. of Brooks*, that opinion should be reexamined in light of subsequent caselaw. 145 Wn.2d 275, 36 P.3d 1034 (2001). The Court of Appeals noted it was not its role to overrule *Brooks*. Slip Op. at 12. Only this Court can do so. *See id*.

Since *Brooks* was decided, both the U.S. Supreme Court and this Court have held that involuntary commitment is unconstitutional absent a showing that a defendant has "serious difficulty" controlling dangerous, sexually predatory behavior. *Kansas v. Crane*, 534 U.S. 407, 413, 122 S. Ct. 867, 151 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2002); *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 735, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). The evidence must be sufficient to distinguish a sexually violent predator "from the dangerous but typical recidivist convicted in an ordinary criminal case." *Crane*, 534 U.S. at 413; *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 731.

The "serious difficulty" standard of *Crane* and *Thorell* is akin to the "highly probable" standard, not the "more likely than not" standard

outlined in the statute.<sup>2</sup> The elevated standard of proof is necessary to support the "requirement that an SVP statute substantially and adequately narrows the class of individuals subject to involuntary civil commitment." *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 737 (internal citation omitted). The State must "demonstrate[] the cause and effect relationship between the alleged SVP's mental disorder and a <u>high probability</u> the individual will commit future acts of violence." *Id.* at 737 (emphasis added).

Chapter 71.09 RCW violates due process because it requires only that the risk of danger be "likely" or "probable"—not substantial. This Court should grant review and hold that the "likely" and "more probably than not" standards of RCW 71.09.020 are unconstitutional. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4); Slip Op. at 12.

#### E. CONCLUSION

The Court should grant review of three issues. First, the Court of Appeals opinion conflicts with this Court's decision in *Robinson* by holding waiver of the constitutional right to testify can be presumed in the accused's absence. Second, the opinion conflicts with Division One's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See Thorell, 149 Wn.2d at 742 (the State must prove the person "has serious difficulty controlling behavior"); see also In re Commitment of Laxton, 647 N.W.2d 784 (Wis. 2002) (upholding Wisconsin's civil-commitment statute with "substantially probable" standard because it means "much more likely than not").

2016 opinion enforcing the exclusion of opinions from nontestifying experts. Third, the Court should reexamine the adequacy of the preponderance standard, which was upheld almost twenty years ago in *Brooks*.