FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/21/2019 8:54 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

96748-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

In re the Detention of

JOEL REIMER,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Kristie Barham Assistant Attorney General WSBA #32764 / OID #91094 Office of the Attorney General 800 Fifth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 Ph. (206) 389-2004

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

waive his right to be present at trial. *See* RP at 54-69; CP at 633, 1141-45. Because the State wanted to call Reimer as a witness at trial, Reimer's attorney requested "a date certain" for his testimony so he "could come and go, and that would be the end of it." RP at 54-61. Reimer's attorney explained, in Reimer's presence, that he needs to be "very, very clear" about the meaning of the waiver and that he cannot call his attorneys at night and expect to be attend court the next day. RP at 56-57, 62. The court requested a written, signed waiver from Reimer "indicating exactly what he's waiving, including which stages of the proceeding he wants to waive his presence at." RP at 62-63. The court stated it would then arrange to transport him when the State anticipated calling him as a witness. RP at 63-68.

The trial court subsequently received Reimer's written waiver, which explicitly waived his right to be present during all phases of the trial. CP at 1227-31. Although Reimer did not waive his right to testify, he explicitly waived his right not only to be present "during all phases of The Defense Case," but also to assist and consult with his attorneys during trial. CP at 1227, 1229. The trial court engaged in a detailed colloquy with Reimer about the waiver and advised him to notify his attorneys if he changed his mind. RP at 74-78.

During trial, Reimer was transported to court to testify as a witness in the State's case in chief. See RP at 737-39, 771-72. Before he began

testifying, the trial court stated that Reimer wanted to return to the Special Commitment Center (SCC) "as soon as possible when we're done." RP at 771-72. Both the State and Reimer's attorney elicited testimony from Reimer, which lasted for nearly a full day. See RP 772-919. During a recess, the State indicated that it planned to rest its case at the conclusion of Reimer's testimony. RP at 899. Reimer's attorney indicated that Reimer is "very concerned" about being held in the jail and that he wanted to return to the SCC when he was done testifying. See RP at 904.

Reimer was present in court when the parties agreed that the testimony portion of the trial would likely conclude in two days. *See* RP 919-20, 947-49. Reimer's expert testified immediately after Reimer, and Reimer rested his case the same day that his expert's testimony concluded. *See* RP at 919-20, 1211-14, 1247. Despite this short timeline for the conclusion of trial, Reimer did not remain in court and instead exercised his right not to be present, consistent with his written waiver. *See* CP at 1227-31. The day before the trial concluded, the court advised Reimer's attorney that Reimer "wants to talk to you at some point before he heads back" to the SCC, but neither Reimer nor his attorneys indicated that Reimer wanted to testify a second time. *See* RP at

¹ Although the record does not explicitly state that Reimer remained in court, the record shows that he was present in court because there was no break in the proceedings and his transport to and from court required security restraints. *See* RP at 772.

1050. The evidence portion of the trial concluded just two days after Reimer testified. See RP at 1247-48.

Even after the trial concluded, neither Reimer nor his attorneys alleged that he wanted to testify a second time. Rather, Reimer argued that his "constitutional rights were violated by not being allowed to be present in court" while awaiting transport back to the SCC. RP at 1395 (emphasis added). But Reimer had previously waived his right to be present in court. CP at 1227-29. Reimer did not assert that his attorneys prevented him from testifying; rather, he argued that he was not returned to the SCC "very quickly" after he testified. See RP at 1395. Reimer's attorneys informed the court that they had not heard that Reimer wanted to return to court. RP at 1395-96. The trial court noted that the only information it had received was that Reimer was "most anxious to get returned to the SCC[.]" RP at 1396.

C. Expert Testimony on Reimer's Diagnoses

Prior to trial, Reimer filed a pretrial motion to prohibit the State from impeaching an expert with the opinions of non-testifying experts. CP at 984-85. The trial court noted that experts may testify to facts but not opinions under ER 705. See RP at 131. The court did not issue a final ruling on this issue, but stated it would use this as a "starting point" because "the field can really change...depending on the questions that are asked." RP at 130-31.

At trial, the State's expert, Dr. Harry Hoberman, diagnosed Reimer

with sexual sadism, antisocial personality disorder, alcohol use disorder, and high psychopathy. RP at 558-59; *see also* RP at 559-85, 592-612, 705. Dr. Hoberman testified that Reimer has a mental abnormality and personality disorder that cause him serious difficulty controlling his behavior and make him likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence. RP at 623-32, 654.

Reimer's expert, Dr. Henry Richards, testified that Reimer does not meet commitment criteria and that he has never suffered from a paraphilia. RP at 1115, 1129. He did not diagnose Reimer with sexual sadism because his sexual assaults were exploitative and vindictive as opposed to sexually sadistic in the clinical sense. *See* RP at 1002-12, 1167-68.

Dr. Richards was the superintendent at the SCC from 2004 to 2007. RP 933-34, 966, 1176. As part of his duties as superintendent, if he disagreed with an SCC evaluator's opinion that the person had changed, he would write the evaluator a letter. *See* RP 1176-79. The State then asked Dr. Richards whether he wrote any letters disagreeing with Reimer's diagnoses of sexual sadism, antisocial personality disorder, and psychopathy. RP at 1179-80. At the outset of the State's question, Reimer objected based on "pretrial motions." RP at 1179-80. The court overruled the objection. RP at 1180. Reimer did not object again after the State finished the question. *See* RP at 1180. Dr. Richards agreed that he never wrote such a letter, but explained that this was because the evaluations did not undermine the basis of commitment, which would have

brought it to his attention. RP at 1180.

Reimer subsequently asked for a mistrial, arguing that the State violated the court's pretrial ruling involving the admission of diagnostic opinions from non-testifying experts. RP at 1185-86. After hearing argument from the parties, the trial court ruled that the testimony "runs squarely into the prior ruling about evaluations from people who aren't present here." RP at 1186-90. The court explained, "When the question first started, I thought it was going elsewhere than it did." RP at 1189.

The court denied the motion for a mistrial, but issued a curative instruction and immediately instructed the jury to disregard the prior evaluations of non-testifying witnesses and not consider them during deliberations. *See* RP at 1190-91. At Reimer's request, the court also issued a written instruction at the conclusion of trial informing jurors that testimony about the diagnostic opinions of the SCC evaluators is not admissible and they "must not consider it for any reason" during deliberations. CP at 1249; RP at 1190, 1263-70, 1280.²

D. Jury Verdict and Appeal

A unanimous jury found that the State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Reimer continues to meet SVP criteria. CP at 1251, 1264, 1268-69.

² A separate jury instruction also informed jurors that they should not discuss or consider any evidence that the court instructed them to disregard. CP at 1244-45.

Reimer appealed the verdict. CP at 1288-89, 1299-1303. The Court of Appeals affirmed. *In re Det. of Reimer*, No. 49881-2-II, 2018 WL 6719853 (Wash. December 18, 2018). The court held that: (1) Reimer's right to testify was not violated, (2) the trial court did not err by denying his mistrial motion after the State impeached his expert with prior diagnoses, (3) the State did not commit misconduct in cross-examining Reimer's expert, and (4) the SVP statute satisfies due process and does not lower the State's burden of proof. Reimer now seeks discretionary review.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Reimer seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), and (4). The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with well-established law and does not conflict with any decision of this Court or the Court of Appeals. Because Reimer does not demonstrate that the issues in his petition involve a significant question of constitutional law or an issue of substantial public interest, this Court should deny review.

B. It is Well Settled That the SVP Statute Does Not Improperly Lower the State's Burden of Proof

The Court of Appeals applied well-settled law in determining that the SVP statute does not improperly lower the State's burden of proof. As Reimer properly acknowledges, this Court has rejected this exact argument.

In re Det. of Brooks, 145 Wn.2d 275, 293-98, 36 P.3d 1034 (2001), overruled on other grounds by In re Det. of Thorell, 149 Wn.2d 724, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). In Brooks, this Court held that the SVP statute satisfies due process because it requires proof "beyond a reasonable doubt" that the person is an SVP—a standard of proof even higher than the "clear, cogent, and convincing" standard required in Addingtion.³ Id. at 294-98.

The SVP statute explicitly requires the trier of fact to determine "whether, beyond a reasonable doubt, the person is a sexually violent predator." RCW 71.09.060(1). An SVP is a person who has been charged or convicted of a crime of sexual violence and who suffers from a mental disorder that makes him "likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility." RCW 71.09.020(18). "Likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined in a secure facility" means that the person "more probably than not will engage in such acts" if unconditionally released. RCW 71.09.020(7). The combined effect of these provisions is to require the State to prove "beyond a reasonable doubt" that the person "more probably than not" will engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if not confined. See Brooks, 145 Wn.2d at 296-98.

As this Court recognized, the SVP statute establishes a "beyond a

³ Addington v. Texas, 441 U.S. 418, 99 S. Ct. 1804, 60 L. Ed. 2d 323 (1979).

reasonable doubt" standard of proof. *Id.* at 295-96. Reimer's argument confuses the burden of proof, which is the degree of confidence the trier of fact should have in the correctness of its factual conclusion, with a fact to be proved that is couched in terms of a statistical probability. *Id.* at 296-98.

There is no basis to reexamine this Court's holding in *Brooks* in light of the holdings in *Thorell* and *Kansas v. Crane*, 534 U.S. 407, 122 S. Ct. 867, 151 L. Ed. 2d 856 (2002), which require facts showing that the person has "serious difficulty" controlling his sexually violent behavior. Neither *Crane* nor *Thorell* indicate that "serious difficulty controlling behavior" is akin to a "highly probable" standard of proof as Reimer suggests. Rather, "serious difficulty controlling behavior" involves the nexus between the mental disorder and dangerousness—the State must present "some proof" that the mental disorder has an impact on the person's ability to control his behavior. *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 735-37, 742-43; *see Crane*, 534 U.S. at 413.

This Court held that this is not a new element and that the jury is not required to make a separate finding of "serious difficulty controlling behavior." *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 742-45. Rather, the jury's finding of a mental disorder, coupled with a history of sexual violence, must support the conclusion that the person has "serious difficulty controlling behavior." *Id.* Thus, "serious difficulty controlling behavior" is not a standard of proof, but rather a fact that must be established at trial. As this Court held, *Crane* requires

SVP commitments "to be supported by proof beyond a reasonable doubt of serious difficulty controlling behavior." *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 745.

Further, the jury instruction approved by this Court in *Thorell* includes a similar "likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence" element that Reimer now claims is unconstitutional. *See id.* at 742; CP at 1251. This Court held that the instruction passes constitutional muster because it requires the trier of fact to find a link between the mental disorder and the likelihood of committing predatory acts of sexual violence. *Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d at 742-43. And this link supports a determination that the person has serious difficulty controlling his behavior. *Id.*

The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with well-settled decisions of this Court. This Court should deny review because Reimer's petition does not raise an issue of substantial public interest or of constitutional magnitude.

C. The Court of Appeals Applied Well-Settled Law in Determining That Reimer's Right to Testify Was Not Violated

The Court of Appeals applied well-settled law in determining that Reimer's right to testify was not violated. First, he testified for nearly a full day. Second, he waived his right to testify a second time by voluntarily leaving court after he testified, consistent with his written waiver. Finally, he failed to meet his burden for an evidentiary hearing because he presented no evidence

that his attorneys "actually prevented" him from testifying.

1. It Is Well-Established That Courts May Assume a Waiver From the Defendant's Conduct

It is well-established that courts may assume a waiver of the right to testify from the defendant's conduct. *See e.g. State v. Frawley*, 181 Wn.2d 452, 461, 334 P.3d 1022 (2014). A criminal defendant has a fundamental constitutional right to testify. *State v. Robinson*, 138 Wn.2d 753, 758, 982 P.2d 590 (1999). But it is well-established that SVP proceedings are "resolutely civil in nature" and not criminal. *In re Det. of Reyes*, 184 Wn.2d 340, 347-48, 358 P.3d 394 (2015). This Court has repeatedly relied on this distinction in declining to extend certain constitutional rights from criminal law to SVP proceedings. *Id.*

Although the waiver of a defendant's right to testify must be made knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently, the trial court is not required to obtain an on-the-record waiver by the defendant. *Robinson*, 138 Wn.2d at 758-59; *State v. Thomas*, 128 Wn.2d 553, 558-59, 910 P.2d 475 (1996). Rather, courts may assume a knowing waiver from the defendant's conduct. *Frawley*, 181 Wn.2d at 461 (citing *Thomas*, 128 Wn.2d at 559). The conduct of not taking the stand may be interpreted as a valid waiver of the right to testify. *Thomas*, 128 Wn.2d at 559.

Even assuming Reimer has a fundamental constitutional right to

testify in a civil commitment trial, he waived it through conduct before, during, and after trial. Prior to trial, Reimer explicitly waived his right to be present during all phases of the trial. CP at 1227-31; *see also* CP at 633. Although his written waiver did not waive his right to testify, he explicitly waived his right to be present "during all phases of The Defense Case," and to assist and consult with his attorneys during trial. CP at 1227, 1229.

During trial, the court accommodated Reimer's request to testify for the State on a "date certain" and allowed him to "come and go" as requested. *See* RP at 54-64, 67-68, 737-39. Reimer testified for nearly a full day, answering questions from both the State and his attorney. *See* RP at 772-919. He wanted to return to the SCC "as soon as possible" when he finished testifying and expressed concern about being held in the jail. RP at 771-72, 904.

Reimer was present in court when the parties agreed that they anticipated completing the testimony portion of the trial within two days. *See* RP at 919-20, 947-49. Reimer testified immediately prior to his expert and rested his case the same that his expert finished testifying. *See* RP at 919-20, 1211-14, 1247. Thus, if Reimer wanted to testify a second time, he would have remained in court. And although the day before trial concluded, the court advised Reimer's attorney that Reimer "wants to talk to you at some point before he heads back" to the SCC, neither Reimer nor his attorneys ever

indicated that he wanted to testify a second time. See RP at 1050. In fact, Reimer's attorney had previously made it clear to Reimer that by waiving his right to be present at trial, he could not expect to contact them at the last minute to attend court. See RP at 56-57, 62.

Even after trial, neither Reimer nor his attorneys alleged that Reimer wanted to testify a second time. On the contrary, Reimer argued that his "constitutional rights were violated by not being allowed to be present in court" while awaiting transport back to the SCC. RP at 1395 (emphasis added). But Reimer had previously waived his right to be present in court. CP at 1227-29. Reimer did not assert that he wanted to testify; rather, he asserted that he was not returned to the SCC "very quickly" after he testified. See RP at 1395. Further, Reimer's attorneys informed the trial court that they had not heard that Reimer wanted to return to court. RP at 1395-96. The trial court noted that the only information it received was that Reimer was "most anxious to get returned to the SCC[.]" RP at 1396. Thus, Reimer's conduct before, during, and after trial indicated that he was voluntarily waiving his right to testify a second time.

Contrary to Reimer's assertion, the decision of the Court of Appeals does not conflict with *Robinson*. In *Robinson*, this Court explained that an on-the-record waiver of the right to testify is not required and that if a defendant "remains silent" at trial, he must provide substantial, factual evidence that his attorney "actually prevented" him from testifying. *Robinson*, 138 Wn.2d at

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